
[Counsel for Petitioners Listed at End of Document] 
 
 
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF WYOMING 

 
STATE OF WYOMING, STATE OF  ) 
COLORADO, ) 
  ) 
 Petitioners, ) 
  ) 
 v. )  Case No. 15-CV-00043-SWS 
  ) 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ) 
THE INTERIOR; SALLY JEWELL, in her ) 
official capacity as Secretary of the Interior ) 
UNITED STATES BUREAU OF LAND  ) 
MANAGEMENT; and NEIL KORNZE, in  ) 
his official capacity as Director of the ) 
Bureau of Land Management )   
  ) 
 Respondents. ) 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

FIRST AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW OF FINAL AGENCY ACTION 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
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 The State of Wyoming and the State of Colorado hereby petition the Court for 

review of the final agency action of the United States Department of the Interior, Interior 

Secretary Sally Jewell, the Bureau of Land Management (BLM), and BLM Director Neil 

Kornze in promulgating the hydraulic fracturing rule published in the Federal Register on 

March 26, 2015. See 80 Fed. Reg. 16128 (Mar. 26, 2015). The BLM’s rule, which regulates 

underground injections in the fracturing process, exceeds the agency’s statutory 

jurisdiction, conflicts with the Safe Drinking Water Act, and unlawfully interferes with the 

States’ hydraulic fracturing regulations.  

1. The Administrative Procedure Act requires courts to hold unlawful and set 

aside agency action that is contrary to law or in excess of statutory jurisdiction. 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(A), (C). 

2. The BLM’s hydraulic fracturing rule exceeds the statutory jurisdiction 

Congress granted to the Department of the Interior and the BLM in the Federal Land Policy 

and Management Act (FLPMA), 43 U.S.C. §§ 1701-84, and the Mineral Leasing Act 

(MLA), 30 U.S.C. §§ 181-287. 

a. The BLM’s hydraulic fracturing rule regulates the underground 

injection of fluids and proppants as part of the hydraulic fracturing process. 80 Fed. 

Reg. at 16130–31 (to be codified at 43 C.F.R. pt. 3160). 

b. The BLM cites the FLPMA and the MLA as authority for the 

fracturing rule. 80 Fed. Reg. at 16186. 

c. In 1974, Congress created a comprehensive program for regulating 

underground injections in Part C of the Safe Drinking Water Act, known commonly 
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as the underground injection control (UIC) program. See Pub. L. No. 93-523, 88 

Stat. 1660 (1974) (codified as amended at 42 U.S.C. §§ 300h - 300h-8). 

d. The UIC program commits exclusive authority to regulate 

underground injections to the states and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

(EPA). See 42 U.S.C. § 300h-1 (state primary enforcement responsibility); id. § 

300h(b)(1)(A) (prohibiting “any underground injection” without a permit); Legal 

Envtl. Assistance Found., Inc. v. U.S. Envtl. Protection Agency, 118 F.3d 1467, 1474 

(11th Cir. 1997) (“[I]t is clear that Congress dictated that all underground injection 

be regulated under the [Safe Drinking Water Act.]”) (emphasis in original). 

e. The FLPMA, which Congress enacted two years later, does not 

authorize the BLM to create a separate program to regulate underground injections 

outside the Safe Drinking Water Act. 

i. In the FLPMA Congress generally required the BLM to 

manage public lands for sustained yields of multiple uses, 43 U.S.C. 

§ 1732(a); to prevent unnecessary and undue degradation of the lands, 

§ 1732(b); and to protect the quality of environmental, ecological, and 

water resources on public lands, § 1701(a)(8). 

ii. However, Congress made clear that the FLPMA shall not be 

construed “as affecting in any way any law governing . . . use of . . . 

water on public lands,” nor “as superseding, modifying, or repealing 

. . . existing laws applicable to the various Federal agencies which are 

authorized to develop or participate in the development of water 
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resources or to exercise licensing or regulatory functions in relation 

thereto.” Pub. L. No. 94-579, § 701, 90 Stat. 2786-87 (1976) 

(uncodified). 

f. The MLA also does not provide the Department of Interior or the 

BLM with authority to regulate underground injections. 

i. The MLA regulates the leasing and development of federally 

owned oil and gas resources. See generally 30 U.S.C. § 181. 

ii. The MLA authorizes the Secretary of the Interior to regulate 

surface disturbing activities and to prevent waste of oil and gas resources. 

Id. at §§ 189, 225, 226(g). 

iii. However, nowhere in the MLA did Congress contemplate the 

regulation of underground injections. 

g. In light of Congress’s specific intent that the UIC program provide the 

exclusive means for regulating underground injections, the general authorities 

granted to the BLM and the Interior Department in the FLPMA and the MLA cannot 

be read to authorize regulation of underground injections outside the UIC program. 

h. If Congress intended the FLPMA or the MLA to create special BLM 

or Interior Department programs for regulating underground injections outside the 

Safe Drinking Water Act, Congress would have said so, as it has in other 

environmental regulatory contexts. See, e.g., 10 U.S.C. §§ 2701-11 (creating special 

regulatory program for remediating military site contamination). 

3. The BLM’s hydraulic fracturing rule violates the Safe Drinking Water Act. 
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a. To ensure a uniform system of regulation under the Safe Drinking 

Water Act, Congress required federal agencies to comply with the UIC program. 42 

U.S.C. § 300j-6(a)(4). 

b. Congress intended this requirement to ensure that regulators will treat 

“underground injection wells on Federal property the same as any other . . . 

underground injection well and will enforce applicable regulations to the same 

extent and under the same procedures.” H.R. Rep. No. 93-1185 (1974), reprinted in 

1974 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6454, 6494. 

c. In the 2005 Energy Policy Act, Congress prohibited the regulation of 

hydraulic fracturing under the UIC program. See Pub. L. No. 109-58, § 322, 119 

Stat. 594 (2005) (codified at 42 U.S.C. § 300h(d)(1)(B)). 

d. Although Congress required all underground injections, including 

those on federal property, to be subject to uniform regulation under the UIC 

program, the BLM’s hydraulic fracturing rule purports to regulate precisely the 

activity that Congress prohibited from federal regulation under the UIC program.  

4. The BLM’s hydraulic fracturing rule exceeds the statutory jurisdiction 

Congress granted to the BLM in the FLPMA and the MLA and is contrary to the Safe 

Drinking Water Act, and should therefore be set aside in accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2). 

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this Petition pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

because the claims presented arise under federal law. 
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6. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1)(C) because 

Petitioner resides within the District of Wyoming. 

7. The promulgation of the hydraulic fracturing rule is a final agency action 

subject to appellate review in this Court. 5 U.S.C. § 702; see also Olenhouse v. Commodity 

Credit Corp., 42 F.3d 1560, 1580 (10th Cir. 1994). 

 WHEREFORE, the States requests that this Court: 

A. Declare that the Respondents violated the Administrative Procedure Act and 

the Safe Drinking Water Act in promulgating the BLM’s hydraulic fracturing rule; 

B. Set aside and vacate the BLM’s hydraulic fracturing rule; 

C. Enter other temporary, preliminary, or permanent injunctive relief as the 

Petitioner may hereafter specifically seek; and 

D. Grant the States such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper to 

remedy Respondents’ violations of law and protect Petitioner’s interests. 
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 Submitted this 21st day of April, 2015. 

      FOR THE STATE OF WYOMING 
 
       /s/ Michael J. McGrady 
      Michael J. McGrady, WSB No. 6-4099 
      Senior Assistant Attorney General 
      Jeremy A. Gross, WSB No. 7-5110 

Assistant Attorney General 
Wyoming Attorney General’s Office 

      123 State Capitol 
      Cheyenne, Wyoming 82002 
      (307) 777-6946 
      (307) 777-3542 facsimile 
      mike.mcgrady@wyo.gov   

jeremy.gross@wyo.gov  
 
      Attorneys for Petitioner State of Wyoming 
 
     

FOR THE STATE OF COLORADO 
 
/s/ Andrew Kuhlmann (with permission) 
Andrew Kuhlmann, WSB No. 7-4595 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Wyoming Attorney General’s Office 

      123 State Capitol 
      Cheyenne, Wyoming 82002 
      (307) 777-6946 
      (307) 777-3542 facsimile 
      andrew.kuhlmann@wyo.gov  
 

Frederick R. Yarger 
Solicitor General 
Colorado Bar No. 39479 
Colorado Attorney General’s Office 
1300 Broadway, 10th Floor 
Denver, CO 80203 
(720) 508-6168 
fred.yarger@state.co.us  
Pro Hac Vice Admission Pending 

 
Attorneys for the State of Colorado 

Case 2:15-cv-00043-SWS   Document 110   Filed 04/22/15   Page 7 of 7


